FILED

SID J. WHITE

AUG 2 1995

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL ALAN LAWRENCE,

Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. 82,256

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

NADA M. CAREY ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE SUITE 401 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT FLA. BAR NO. 0648825

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This is an appeal of a resentencing proceeding. References to the one-volume record on appeal are designated by "R" and the page number. References to the one-volume transcript of the resentencing proceeding are designated by "T" and the page number. References to the supplemental record, containing a corrected copy of the trial judge's sentencing order, are designated by "SR" and the page number.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant, MICHAEL ALAN LAWRENCE, was charged and convicted for the September 29, 1986, first-degree murder, kidnapping, and armed robbery of a convenience store clerk, Paula Tyree.

Lawrence v. State, 614 So. 2d 1092 (Fla. 1993). (R 4-13). On direct appeal, this Court vacated the death sentence and directed the trial court to empanel a jury and conduct a new penalty proceeding. Id. (R 13). In so doing, the Court struck three aggravating factors found by the trial court. Id. at 1096. (R 11-12). The Court also vacated the kidnapping conviction because there was no evidence Lawrence forced the victim into the storeroom where her body was found. Id. (R 11).

A new penalty proceeding was held before Circuit Judge Edward P. Nickinson, III, 1 on June 21-22, 1993. The jury, by a vote of 12-0, recommended the death penalty. (R 20).

The court received sentencing memoranda from the state and the defense on July 12 and 13, 1993 (R 21-24, 45-52), and heard additional argument orally on July 13, 1993. (R 25-43). On July 19, 1993, the trial judge sentenced Lawrence to death, finding three aggravating factors: that the crime was committed while Lawrence was under sentence of imprisonment; that Lawrence had previously been convicted of a violent felony; and

¹The original trial judge was Circuit Judge Jack R. Heflin. <u>Lawrence</u>, 614 So. 2d at 1092.

that the murder was committed for pecuniary gain. The court found no statutory mitigating circumstances. As to non-statutory mitigation, the court considered mental and emotional disturbance as a non-statutory factor but concluded the factor either had not been proved or was not entitled to substantial weight. (R 65-69).

Notice of appeal was timely filed August 17, 1993. (R 74).

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On Tuesday, June 22, 1993, before any evidence was presented, the prosecutor asked the trial judge to allow the state to read to the jury the testimony Sonya Gardner gave at Lawrence's earlier trial. To demonstrate Gardner's unavailability, the state presented the testimony of one of its investigators, Tom Tucker. Tucker was given his assignment to locate Gardner the Thursday before trial. He began trying to locate her the next day, Friday, by leaving messages for her with several people in Santa Rosa County who knew her. (T 65). Gardner called Tucker on the phone late Sunday night and said she was camping out in Blackwater State Park. She said she did not want to testify but eventually agreed to be at the courthouse at nine o'clock the next morning. She did not show Around 2:30 that afternoon, she called Tucker and said she was not coming because she did not want to leave her camping equipment. She also said she did not want to have anything to do with the trial and was scared of people in that area. Around five o'clock that afternoon, Gardner's boyfriend called Tucker and said Gardner still did not want to come and would come only if forced. (T 66-67). He said he would direct Tucker to where they were camping if necessary. (T 69). Tucker told them he would call them back if there were no way around Gardner's being there. Tucker never called them back and never got the directions. (T 67, 69-70).

The prosecutor said the State Attorney's office had sent a subpoena to Gardner's last known address in Oklahoma on May 29. The receipt came back signed by Gardner's ex-husband. (T 69). The prosecutor conceded Gardner's testimony was not relevant to any of the aggravating circumstances but would give an overview of the underlying facts of the crime. Lawrence objected to the reading of Gardner's former testimony, arguing the state had not exhausted its efforts to secure her presence and her testimony was not relevant. (T 70-71).

The trial judge ruled Gardner's former testimony inadmissible because the state had failed to satisfy the unavailability requirement. (T 71).

The state presented several witnesses to establish an overview of the crime. A Pensacola police officer said he went to the Majik Market on Scenic Highway on September 29, 1986, after receiving a call that the clerk could not be located. (T 81-82). He arrived around 11:50 p.m. The cash register drawer was open. Inside a storage room located off the west wall near the middle of the store was the deceased clerk, lying face down on the floor with several wounds to the back of her head. (T 83). A crime scene investigator said there were two marks on the floor near the victim's head that were consistent with bullets ricocheting off the floor. Photographs showing the bullet ricochets were admitted into evidence. (T 90-91). The supervisor of the store at the time the offense occurred said

she determined the following day, after the police finished their work, that \$58 was missing from the store. (T 88).

The state next presented Georgia Crowell, an aquaintance of Lawrence's around the time of the homicide. At that time, Crowell was living on Scenic Highway, less than a mile from the Majik Market where the murder took place. (T 93-94). Over Lawrence's objection, the prosecutor was allowed to ask the witness whether Lawrence said anything to her in September of 1986 about a plan to do a robbery. Crowell responded, "Some type of plan to get money." (T 94). Crowell also was allowed to testify, over Lawrence's objection, that Lawrence told her sometime in early October of 1986 that he went across the street to the Majik Market intending to rob it but could not do so after looking at the clerk. (T 94-96).

Crowell said when she visited Lawrence in the Escambia

County Jail after his arrest and asked him if he had done the

Majik Market murder, he told her he could not discuss it

because "they would ask me questions and he didn't want to

involve me." (T97). When asked if Lawrence said anything

about whether the police would be able to tie him to the gun

used in the murder, Crowell said he told her not to talk about

it, that they would never find the gun because it was in the

river. (T98). Lawrence's objection to this testimony was

overruled. Crowell continued, saying Lawrence told her not to

answer any questions the police asked her about the gun, not to

involve him in any way, and not to say anything about what he said about the gun he had given **Sonya** Gardner being in the river. (T 98).

The state next put on Larry Conti, who said he was in the Majik Market the night of September 29, 1986. Over defense objection, Conti said the clerk was very rude to him and when he said something to her about the change being wrong, she ignored him and walked away. (T 101-102).

The next witness, Melvin Summerlin, testified that while he was incarcerated with Lawrence in the Escambia County Jail in April of 1987, Lawrence talked about the Majik Market murder, saying if the police could find a gun Sonya had, they could probably put it back on him. (T 104). After Lawrence's objection to this testimony was overruled, Summerlin testified on cross-examination that Lawrence told him he did not remember what happened at the Majik Market because he was strung out on cocaine. (T 105).

At this point in the proceeding, the trial judge announced,

I think I am willing to change my ruling about Sonya Gardner's availability. I am concerned about relevance. One of the things that occurred to me and, Mr. Dees, I know that one of the mitigating factors you have just touched on it, I think one of the mitigating factors you may argue may have to do with whether the defendant acted under extreme mental or emotional distress or stress and if, in fact, she was with the defendant on the night of the killing, she may be able -- 1 don't know what her -- I

don't know if her testimony speaks to that.
 I would be more inclined to all -unless you are going to announce that
you're not going to argue that as a mitigator, Mr. Dees, I would be more inclined to
allow that than a great deal of facts about
who did what with guns afterwards. I don't
really think that speaks to any of the
aggravating factors or mitigators.

(T 105-106). The trial court then ruled Gardner's former testimony "about what she saw and heard right around the time of the murder. . . . particularly if it deals with [Lawrence's] demeanor or state of mind" was appropriate. (T 106-107). Over Lawrence's renewed objection, the prosecutor read Gardner's prior testimony to the jury.

Gardner met Lawrence in the summer of 1986. She was pregnant at the time and gave birth on October 31, 1986. (T 109). The night of the homicide, Gardner was with Lawrence and Steven Pendleton, known to her as "Snake." Lawrence came over to Gardner's house in Milton around ten o'clock that night. He said he was doing cocaine and wanted someone to talk to. He asked Gardner if she would ride to Pensacola with him to get a bottle. (T 110). Lawrence drove. When they got to Scenic Highway in Pensacola, they stopped at the Majik Market and got gas. Lawrence pumped the gas. Pendleton got out and went to the back of the car, then got back in the car and drove to the front of the store. Lawrence came out of the store and Pendleton had come back and sat in the passenger's seat. (T 111).

They went to the Knob Hill Liquor store, half a block away. (T 111). Lawrence and Pendleton went inside and bought a bottle of liquor. They drove to some apartments across the street from the Majik Market. Pendleton got out, carrying a grocery bag, which he said contained some clothes that he needed to return to his girlfriend. He walked behind the car, then came back a few minutes later, saying his girlfriend was not home. Pendleton said "let's go get some mixer," and he and Lawrence walked across the street to the Majik Market.

Pendleton was carrying the grocery bag he had said contained clothes. (T 112-114).

While Lawrence and Pendleton were in the Majik Market,
Gardner sat on the hood of the car, listening to the radio. (T
113). While she was sitting there, she saw Pendleton walk
towards the back of the coolers. Lawrence went back that way,
too, though not all the way to where Pendleton had gone. After
a little while, the clerk moved that way, too. Gardner was not
paying much attention to the store, though, and was looking
around at other things. (T 114). She could not tell what they
were doing in the store. When they came out, they both walked
over to the dumpster and appeared to throw something away.
When they returned to the car, Pendleton was carrying what
appeared to be the same grocery bag he had carried into the
store. Lawrence was carrying a smaller bag and was wearing a
gray-colored shirt rather than the dark blue shirt he was

wearing when he went into the store. When Gardner asked him why he changed shirts, he did not respond, He was really upset and shaking. Pendleton was emotionless. (T 114, 116).

They got back in the car, and Lawrence drove to Fort

Pickens beach. Lawrence asked Gardner if she would talk to

him, and they walked down to the beach. Pendleton stayed in

the car. While walking to the beach, Lawrence said, "I shot

the redheaded bitch." Gardner asked Lawrence what he was

talking about but did not pay close attention to what he said

because she thought he was tripping on cocaine. She changed

the subject because he started acting really nervous and tense

and turning around and throwing his hands up in the air.

Lawrence said he shot her because she made him mad. They

stayed on the beach until dawn, then walked back to the car,

where Pendleton appeared to be passed out. Lawrence then drove

Gardner home. (T 117-119).

The state introduced into evidence a certified copy of Lawrence's 1976 conviction of the second-degree murder of his wife and sentence of life in prison. (T 126). Larry Sutton, a prison inmate, testified that when he was Lawrence's cellmate at Okaloosa prison in April of 1989, Lawrence told him he strangled his wife because she was swimming with his nephew. He took her off to a place they used to go for sex. She asked him where they were going, and he told her he was going to take her out in the woods and kill her. She followed him anyway.

They sat down and he reached over and strangled her. (T 121). Lawrence told Sutton he killed his wife because she had messed around on him and had been messing around on him. Lawrence was twenty years old at the time and his wife was eighteen, (T 122). Sutton said he had been convicted of twenty or thirty felonies and was presently serving two life sentences without parole for 25 years for two first-degree murders. (T 122-123).

Elwin Coffman, who had been a Santa Rosa County sheriff in 1976, testified that some children had discovered Lawrence's wife's body in the woods sixty-six days after the murder.

After the body was identified, Lawrence was questioned, and he confessed to choking her to death. (T 125).

Phil Suggs, a probation officer, testified that Lawrence was on parole for the murder of his wife when the instant offenses were committed. (T 127). Until the Majik Market shooting, Lawrence had been doing fine, although he could not find a job. (T 128).

Over defense objection, the victim's mother, Betty
Criswell, was permitted to testify that her daughter was a
great church worker, never missed a day of church, was 37 years
old, was divorced, and had an eight-year-old son. Criswell
said her daughter and her daughter's son had been living with
her for some time and the boy's father had not seen his son
since the divorce. Her daughter's death had quite an impact on
her grandson because after her death, his father went to court

and took him to another state. When asked what impact her daughter's death had on her, Mrs. Criswell said quite a bit. She considered her grandson her baby because she had raised him all that time and now all she had was monthly visitation. (T 132-133).

The defense presented no witnesses or other evidence in mitigation. (T 134).

During closing argument, the prosecutor told the jury the process of weighing used in the justice system was very, very old, as illustrated by a story in the Bible. Over defense objection, the prosecutor was permitted to tell the story of King Belshazzar, as told in the Book of Daniel. According to the prosecutor, Belshazzar threw a big party at which wine from the city of Jerusalem was drunk and false gods were worshipped. During the party, a hand appeared out of thin air and wrote something on the wall, which no one could decipher. Finally, a young man named Daniel told Belshazzar the handwriting on the wall said, "your kingdom has been numbered and you've been weighed in the balances and found wanting." (T 147). The prosecutor urged the jurors to find that Lawrence also had been "weighed in the balances and found wanting." (T 150, 153).

During its deliberations, the jury sent the trial judge the following two questions: (1) Does "time served" get subtracted from a mandatory minimum 25 year sentence without parole?, and (2) can a "death sentence" be changed thru appeals

to a "life sentence" of 25 years without parole?" (R 19, 167-168). With counsels' agreement, the trial judge told the jurors he could not answer the questions and their job was to consider the verdict as instructed and they should not be concerned with what might happen in further proceedings. (T 168-169).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Issue I. The trial court's failure to instruct Lawrence's penalty phase jury on the definition of reasonable doubt deprived Lawrence of a reliable sentence, in violation of the eighth and fourteenth amendments of the United States Constitution, and Article I, Sections 9 and 17, of the Florida Constitutution.

Issue II. The trial court committed reversible error in admitting irrelevant evidence of a collateral crime.

Issue III. The trial court reversibly erred in allowing the state to read the testimony given by Sonya Gardner at Lawrence's earlier trial, where the state's investigator located Gardner the day before trial but never served her with a subpoena, and where the trial court reversed its original ruling that Gardner was not unavailable on the ground that her testimony was relevant to the proposed mitigating circumstances.

Issue IV. The trial court reversibly erred in failing to conduct an inquiry to determine whether Lawrence's waiver of his right to present mitigating evidence was knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily made.

Issue V. The trial court erred in refusing to grant a mistrial where during closing argument the prosecutor improperly exploited the jurors' religious beliefs by equating the jury's sentencing task to God's judgment of the wicked.

Issue VI. The trial court erred in finding the aggravating circumstance that the murder was committed for pecuniary gain where competent, unrebutted evidence showed Lawrence killed the victim because she made him mad and where the evidence was insufficient to prove Lawrence intended to rob the Majik Market at the time the homicide was committed.

Issue VII. The trial court applied the wrong standard in rejecting as a mitigating factor the evidence of Lawrence's cocaine use the night of the homicide.

Issue VIII. Section 941.141(7), Florida Statutes (1992), which allows victim impact evidence in the sentencing phase of a capital trial, allows for arbitrary and capricious imposition of the death penalty; is vague; infringes on this Court's exclusive right to regulate practice and procedure; and violates state and federal ex post facto provisions.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

THE TRIAL COURT'S FAILURE TO GIVE AN INSTRUCTION DEFINING REASONABLE DOUBT DEPRIVED LAWRENCE OF A RELIABLE PENALTY PHASE PROCEEDING, IN VIOLATION OF THE EIGHTH AND FOURTEENTH AMENDMENTS OF THE UNITED STATES CONSTITUTION AND ARTICLE 1, SECTIONS 9 AND 17, OF THE FLORIDA CONSTITUTION.

The trial judge at Lawrence's resentencing proceeding gave no instruction to the jury defining "reasonable doubt." This error vitiated the jury's recommendation of death, thereby rendering the proceeding fundamentally unfair. This Court must reverse for a new penalty phase proceeding.

In Cage v Louisiana, 498 U.S. 39, 41, 111 S.Ct. 328, 112

L.Ed.2d 339, 342 (1990), the United States Supreme Court held invalid Louisiana's reasonable doubt instruction because it allowed the jury to reach a verdict of guilt based upon a "degree of proof below that required by the due process clause." The Court subsequently ruled harmless error analysis inappropriate to measure the effect the unconstitutional jury instruction in Cage unight halve on the jury. n ______ v

Louisiana 113 S.Ct. 2078, 124 L.Ed.2d 182 (1993). The Court grounded its decision on the fifth amendment's requirement of proof beyond a reasonable doubt and the sixth amendment right to a jury determination of guilt, reasoning that when the jury has received a defective reasonable doubt instruction, there is "no jury verdict within the meaning of the Sixth Amendment."

124 L.Ed.2d at 189. Harmless error analysis, however, requires the reviewing court to consider the actual effect of the error on the guilty verdict in the case at hand. Without a valid jury determination of guilt, an appellate court has "no object, so to speak, upon which harmless error scrutiny can operate."

Id. at 190. A reviewing court could only engage in speculation, that is, decide what a reasonable jury would have done, and, when it does that, the wrong entity judges the defendant guilty. Id. As Justice Rehnquist observed, "a constitutionally deficient reasonable-doubt instruction is a breed apart from the many instructional errors that we have held are amenable to harmless-error analysis" because a constitutionally deficient reasonable-doubt instruction will always result in the absence of "beyond a reasonable doubt" jury findings. Id. at 193 (Rehnquist, J., concurring).

in Arizona V. Fulminante, 499 U.S. 279, 111 S.Ct. 1246, 113

L.Ed.2d 302 (1991), in which the Court divided trial errors into those which may be assessed within the context of other evidence presented and those consisting of "structural defects" which affect the framework within which the trial proceeds.

Id. at 191 (Rehnquist, J., concurring). Applying this analysis, the Court concluded the jury guarantee is a "basic protection" which reflects "`a profound judgment about the way in which law should be enforced and justice administered."

The deprivation of this right is a structural defect, therefore, and, as such, can never be harmless. <u>Sullivan</u>, 124 L.Ed.2d at 190-91.

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