IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FILED

SID J. WHITE

NOV 3 1995

CLERK, SUPRIEME COURT

MICHAEL ALAN LAWRENCE,

Appellant,

v.

Case No.: 82,256

STATE OF FLORIDA,
Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FIRST JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR ESCAMBIA COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

GYPSY BAILEY ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR #0797200

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904)488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Issue I: Lawrence's claim that the trial court erred in failing to instruct the resentencing jury on reasonable doubt is procedurally barred for two reasons -- this claim was not raised in Lawrence's first direct appeal, and Lawrence did not request a definitional instruction on reasonable doubt at his resentencing, Nevertheless, case law makes clear that such an instruction in the penalty phase is not constitutionally required,

Issue II: Lawrence's claim that the trial court improperly admitted the testimony of state witness Crowell that Lawrence had told her of his intent to rob the Majik Market is procedurally barred, because Lawrence did not object on collateral crime evidence grounds below. In any event, the trial court correctly admitted this evidence as relevant to prove the aggravating circumstance of pecuniary gain,

Issue III: The trial court did not abuse its discretion in permitting the jury to hear the former testimony of state witness Gardner because it was relevant to give the resentencing jury an overview of the facts of the instant murder. Further, the state established that it had exercised due diligence in attempting to locate Gardner.

Issue IV: Lawrence's claim that defense counsel's decision not to call any witnesses at his resentencing was the equivalent of Lawrence's waiving the presentation of mitigation without a proper inquiry misrepresents the record. It is clear that Lawrence did not waive the presentation of mitigation, which was elicited through state witnesses (a fact acknowledged by defense counsel), argued by defense counsel, and considered by the trial court.

Issue V: The trial court did not abuse its discretion in permitting the state to compare Lawrence's situation in the penalty phase to a Biblical story, as this argument was a permissible analogy to the requirements of Florida's death penalty statute. The state properly stated the weighing requirements of the jury, using the Biblical story to demonstrate such a weighing process.

Issue VI: Lawrence's claim that the trial court incorrectly found that Lawrence committed the instant murder for pecuniary gain is procedurally barred, based on Lawrence's failure to raise this claim in his first direct appeal to this Court. Nevertheless, the state proved beyond a reasonable doubt that Lawrence committed the instant murder for pecuniary gain, based on Lawrence's statements, the missing money, the open cash register, and the location of the victim's body.

Issue VII: The trial court applied the proper standard in rejecting Lawrence's cocaine use on the night of the murder as mitigation. The trial court fully considered the two statutory mitigating circumstances argued by Lawrence, and considered one as nonstatutory mitigation based on a request by Lawrence, before correctly concluding that cocaine use had had no substantial effect on Lawrence's behavior on the night in question.

Issue VIII: Lawrence's claim that Florida's victim impact statute is unconstitutional is procedurally barred, as Lawrence failed to object below on the grounds now asserted on appeal. In any event, Windom makes clear that Lawrence's claim hold no merit.

ARGUMENT

Issue I

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN FAILING TO INSTRUCT THE RESENTENCING JURY ON THE DEFINITION OF REASONABLE DOUBT.

Lawrence claims that the trial court erred in failing to instruct the jury in the penalty phase on reasonable doubt, Lawrence, however, proceeds to argument without clarifying whether his argument is that such an instruction is required during all penalty phases, or just in resentencing penalty phases.

If Lawrence's argument is that this instruction should be given in all penalty phases, Lawrence is barred by the law of the case doctrine from raising this claim in his appeal from resentencing, as he did not challenge the failure to give this instruction in his first direct appeal. This Court has consistently held that the law of the case doctrine applies to bar consideration of issues which could have been presented in a prior appeal. This Court noted in Rogers v. State, 23 So. 2d 154 (Fla. 1945):

"Nothing is presented here which we think warrants us in departing from our opinion and judgment in that case which became the law of the case insofar as it determined all the

¹ The trial court did not instruct the jury on reasonable doubt in the original penalty phase (OT 701-03).

issues which were presented, or which might have been presented at that time." Id., at 155 (emphasis supplied).

This Court reaffirmed this principle in <u>Strazzulla v.</u>

<u>Hendrick</u>, 155 So. 2d 1 (Fla. 1965), observing that the law of the case principle existed to avoid reconsideration of points which were, or should have been, adjudicated in a former appeal of the same case; and that its purpose was to lend stability to judicial decisions, to avoid piecemeal appeals, and to bring litigations to an end as expeditiously as possible. <u>See also Airvac, Inc. v. Ranger Ins. Co.</u>, 330 so. 2d 467 (Fla. 1976) (the law of the case doctrine is applicable to issues which could have been, but were not, raised). Because Lawrence could have raised this issue in his prior appeal to this Court, this Court should refuse to address it at this juncture,

If Lawrence's claim is only that resentencing juries should be provided with such an instruction, this issue is procedurally barred for a second reason. During the charge conference, defense counsel made no suggestion that the trial court instruct the jury on the definition of reasonable doubt (T 137-42). Consequently, during jury instructions, the trial court advised the jury only that each aggravating circumstance had to be proven beyond a reasonable doubt, and that a mitigating circumstance did not have to be proven beyond a reasonable doubt (T 163-64).

Because Lawrence did not request a definitional instruction below, he failed to preserve this claim for appellate review. Esty v. State, 642 So. 2d 1074, 1079-80 (Fla. 1994); Armstrong v. State, 642 So. 2d 730, 737 (Fla. 1994); Parker v. State, 641 So. 2d 369, 375 (Fla. 1994); Kight v. State, 53 So. 541 (Fla. 1910). Despite Lawrence's claims to the contrary, the trial court's failure to define reasonable doubt to the resentencing jury does not constitute fundamental error, as shown in the above cases.

Should this Court reach a different conclusion, the standard reasonable doubt jury instruction (referred to by Lawrence in his Initial Brief at 18 n.2) is, by its own very specific wording, written to be delivered only during the guilt phase of a trial:

reasonable doubt is not possible doubt, a speculative, imaginary or forced doubt. Such a doubt must nat influence you to return a verdict of not guilty if you have an abiding conviction of guilt. On the other hand, if, after carefully considering, comparing and weighing all the evidence, there is not an abiding conviction of guilt, or, if, having a conviction, it is one which is not stable but one which wavers and then the charge is vacillates, proved beyond every reasonable doubt and you must find the defendant not guilty because the doubt is reasonable.

It is to the evidence introduced upon this trial, and to it alone, that you are to look for that proof.

A reasonable doubt as to the guilt of the defendant may arise from the evidence, conflict in the evidence of the lack of evidence.

If you have a reasonable doubt, you should find the defendant not guilty. If you have no reasonable doubt, you should find the defendant guilty.

Fla. Std. Jury Instr. (Crim.) 2.03 Plea of Not Guilty; Reasonable Doubt; and Burden of Proof at 12-13 (March 1989).

There is no similar instruction contained in the standard penalty phase jury instructions. Instead, during the penalty phase of a capital trial, a resentencing jury is told only that "the defendant has been found guilty of (crime charged). Consequently, you will not concern yourselves with the question of [his] [her] guilt," Fla. Std. Jury Instr. (Crim.) Penalty Proceedings -- Capital Cases at 74 (June 1992).

Lawrence has cited to no Florida law or case which requires the giving of an instruction defining reasonable doubt to a resentencing jury. The debate about whether such an instruction is advisable is not the issue. Instead, the focus is whether such an instruction is required. Clearly, on the federal level, it is not required, or even necessarily recommended. See Victor v. Nebraska, 127 L. Ed. 2d 583 (1994); Holland v. United States, 348 U.S. 121, 140 (1954); Hopt v. Utah, 120 U.S. 430 (1887); United States v.

<u>Adkins</u>, 937 F. 2d 947, 950 (4th Cir. 1991); <u>United States v.</u> Hall, 854 F. 2d 1036, 1039 (7th Cir. 1988).

Lawrence's reliance on <u>Sullivan v. Louisiana</u>, 124 L. Ed. 2d 182 (1993), is misplaced. There, the United States Supreme Court held that reasonable doubt jury instructions which affirmatively misstate the law cannot constitute harmless error. Because this **case** does not involve a misstatement of the law, but the trial court's failure to give a constitutionally unrequired definition of reasonable doubt to a resentencing jury, <u>Sullivan</u> is inapposite. <u>See also Henderson v. Kibbe</u>, 431 U.S. 145 (1977) (an omitted jury instruction is less likely to be prejudicial than a misstatement of the law).

Issue II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY PERMITTED STATE WITNESS CROWELL TO RELATE LAWRENCE'S STATEMENT TO HER THAT INTENDED TO LAWRENCE ROB THEMAJIK MARKET.

Lawrence has phrased this issue in collateral crime evidence language. In reality, collateral crime is not the issue; rather, the issue is whether the trial court properly admitted as relevant Lawrence's statement to Crowell about his plan to rob the Majik Market.

Any collateral crime evidence claim is procedurally barred because Lawrence failed to object on this precise point in the trial court. Peterka v. State, 640 So. 2d 59 (Fla. 1994). When the prosecutor asked Georgia Crowell about whether Lawrence said anything to her in October 1986² about a plan to commit a robbery, defense counsel objected only on the grounds of relevance (T 94, 96). The prosecutor explained that he sought to admit this line of testimony because Lawrence had admitted to going to the Majik Market with the intent to rob it, and Lawrence in fact "went in there and killed" the victim (T 95). The trial court permitted the testimony, after which defense counsel

Lawrence committed the instant murder on September 29, 1986 (R 1).

Crowell testified as to these statements at Lawrence's first trial, with no defense objection (OT 232).

moved for a mistrial (T 96). Ms. Crowell then testified that Lawrence had told her that he was "across the street in an attempt to rob it, but he couldn't do it after looking at the clerk." (T 96).

If this Court were to reach the merits nevertheless, the record clearly shows that the state did not seek admission of this evidence to show a collateral crime, but sought admission because it was relevant to prove an aggravating circumstance. As this Court is well aware, the decision to admit evidence is committed to the sound discretion of the trial court, and such a decision should not disturbed on appeal absent a showing of abuse of discretion. Muchleman v. State, 503 So. 2d 310, 315 (Fla. 1987); Jent v. State, 408 So. 2d 1024 (Fla. 1981), -- cert. denied, 457 U.S. 1111 (1982).

As the above record passage indicates with great clarity, the state sought the admission of this testimony to prove an aggravating circumstance, i.e., that the murder was committed for pecuniary gain (R 88). Crowell's testimony helped to establish this factor, and Lawrence can show no abuse of discretion by the trial court. Further, any argument that this constituted collateral crime evidence is nothing more than a red herring. See Thompson v. State, 619 so. 2d 261, 266 (Fla. 1993); Johnson v. State, 465 So. 2d 499, 506 (Fla. 1985).

In any event, any error on this point was harmless. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129 (Fla. 1986). Beyond a reasonable doubt, Crowell's testimony on this point did not affect the jury's verdict, based on its extremely limited reference.

Issue III

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ABUSED ITS DISCRETION IN PERMITTING THE STATE TO READ THE TESTIMONY OF SONYA GARDNER TO THE JURY.

It is within the sound discretion of the lower court during resentencing proceedings to allow the jury to hear and see probative evidence which will aid it in understanding the facts of the case in order that it may render an appropriate advisory sentence, Teffeteller v. State, 495 So. 2d 744, 745 (Fla. 1986). The sentencing court in this case did not abuse its discretion in permitting the jury to hear the former testimony of Sonya Gardner because it was relevant.

The state presented the testimony of Tom Tucker, who had attempted to locate Sonya Gardner for service of a trial subpoena, Tucker stated that, based on "past information," he began his location efforts in Santa Rosa County in police reports and complaints, and contacted several people in Santa Rosa County who might have known Gardner (T 65). Because Tucker had no home or permanent address for Gardner, he also attempted an Oklahoma⁴ phone number (T 65-66). After "one family" Tucker had contacted spoke with Gardner, Gardner called Tucker (T 66). Tucker advised Gardner why he

 $^{^4}$ The last known address for Gardner was in Oklahoma (T 68-69).

was looking for her; Gardner was reticent about coming in and did not want Tucker to know where she was -- a campsite "somewhere in Blackwater State Park over in Santa Rosa County" (T 66).

Gardner finally agreed to come in, but did not show up at the appointed time, and called later to say she would not be coming in at all (T 66). Gardner advised that she did not wish to leave expensive camping equipment, was scared of people in the area, and did not want her life to be a mess as a result of testifying again (T 66). Gardner's boyfriend called at 5:00 p.m. on the day before trial to advise that Gardner would come in only if forced, and that he would have to give Tucker directions as they were "some 10 miles back in the woods" (T 67, 69). Although Gardner's boyfriend stated that he would call back the next day, he did not (T 67). Tucker was unable to serve Gardner with a subpoena before trial to "force" her to attend (T 68).

The state pointed out that it had sent a subpoena to Gardner's last known address -- Post Office Box 264, Tyrone, Oklahoma -- on May 29, 1993, and had received a receipt signed by Benton Gardner, Sonya Gardner's ex-husband (T 68-69). The state alleged that Sonya Gardner was an "essential witness who was present with the defendant at the scene of the crime and who heard the defendant's confession shortly after the crime." (T 70). The state acknowledged that

Sonya Gardner would not speak to any of the aggravating circumstances, but would

the jury an overview of qive underlying facts of the murder so the jury will not have to decide this case in a vacuum. The Supreme Court has stated that the trial court discretion to allow some of testimony of the underlying murder so that the jury will not have to make its decision in a vacuum, and that was the purpose of this testimony.

(T 71). The trial court held that the state had not shown that Gardner was unavailable (T 71).

Later, the court reconsidered its ruling:

On reflection unless I somehow manage to get her in here, I think I am willing to change my ruling about Sonya Gardner's availability+ I am concerned about relevance. One of the things that occurred to me and, Mr. Dees, I know that one of the mitigating factors you have just touched on it, I think one of the mitigating factors you may argue my have to do with whether the defendant acted under extreme mental or emotional distress or stress and if, in fact, she was with the defendant on the night of the killing, she may be able -- I don't know what her -- 1 don't know if her testimony speaks to that.

I would be more inclined to allow -- unless you are going to announce that you're not going to argue that as a mitigator, Mr. Dees, I would be more inclined [t]o allow that than a great deal of facts about who did what with guns afterwards. I don't really think that speaks to any of the aggravating factors or mitigators.

[State]: She did say that he was tripping on cocaine.

[Defense]: That's the only mitigating factor we're going to raise, Your Honor.

[State]: Then we'll have it ready.

[Court]: I think if she -- if there's testimony in there about what she saw and heard right around the time of the murder, some, though maybe not to [a] great extent, some of that may be -- but particularly if it deals with his demeanor or state of mind, I think that may be appropriate.

(T 105-06). Defense counsel renewed his objection (T 107).

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